STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED 

In this case, a Black Lives Matter protestor was convicted of robbery for 

taking the body worn camera of a police officer at a Black Lives Matter protest. The 

trial court described the conviction as “marginal” and deemed its evidentiary 

sufficiency to be “a close call.” And the evidence showed that the protestor’s hand 

touched the officer’s camera for less than one-twentieth of a second, while the 

protestor was trying to stay on his feet, and that the camera was in the unlocked 

position before this incidental contact. Even then, the camera did not fall off the 

officer’s body until after the officer had completed a “tactical takedown” of the 

protestor, who picked up the camera from the ground in “neutral territory” after 

the police officer had already started to walk away the from the scene.  

In his appeal, the protestor presents the following questions about applying 

the D.C. robbery statute and addressing jury confusion about its requirements.  

1. To convict a defendant of robbery, the government must prove that he used 

“force or violence” with the specific intent to take property from “the person or 

immediate actual possession of another.” Given these requirements, may a 

defendant be convicted of robbery if (a) the alleged force or violence was not 

accompanied by a specific intent to steal, and (b) the alleged theft was not 

accompanied by any force or violence?  
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2. During deliberations, the jury thrice expressed confusion about whether and 

to what extent the alleged force or violence could be separated in time from the 

alleged intent to steal. In response, the trial court told the jury that force or violence 

must “be accompanied by” or “at the same time” as the specific intent to steal, 

but did not directly answer the jury’s more specific questions about 

accompaniment means at “the exact time” or, instead, could be “a span of 

time”—such as “the entire events”—other than the immediate taking of the 

property.” Did the trial court’s responses alleviate the jury’s confusion with the 

necessary concrete accuracy?  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & JURISDICTION 

On December 12, 2020, Appellant Michael Patschak was arrested and 

charged with robbery. R1. On August 29, 2022, he was indicted on one count of 

robbery, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-2801, and two counts of assaulting a law 

enforcement officer, in violation of D.C. Code § 22-405(b). R23 at 1–2. Patschak’s 

jury trial began on November 7, 2022, with Judge Jason Park presiding. RA at 18. 

On November 10, 2022, the jury convicted Patschak of all three counts. R36. 

In a final judgment issued on March 10, 2023, the trial court sentenced 

Patschak to 24 months, all suspended, for the robbery conviction; 180 days, all but 
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fifteen days suspended, for each assault conviction; and one year of probation. R44. 

Patschak filed a timely notice of appeal on March 27, 2023. R45.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS  

After Ahmaud Arbery was murdered in February 2020, Michael Patschak 

began attending Black Lives Matter protests in Washington, DC. 11/9/22 Tr. 31:5–

15. He attended one such protest, at Black Lives Matter Plaza, on the afternoon of 

December 12, 2020. 11/8/22 Tr. 38:2–9; 11/9/22 Tr. 30:2–9, 32:21–23. Patschak 

wore a helmet, reflective shoelaces, a distinctive black clown mask, and a GoPro 

camera. 11/8/22 Tr. 64:5–13. At the time, he was nearly thirty years old and had no 

criminal record. SR1 (Sealed Record) at 1.  

A. With Officer Todd’s body worn camera already in the unlocked 
position, Officer Todd and Patschak begin to tussle.  

Also attending the protest were police officers from the Fifth District’s Civil 

Disturbance Unit. Those officers, including Officer Davon Todd, “did an 

encirclement” to arrest a protestor; the officers had been told, by someone “up the 

chain,” that the protestor “was causing some sort of disorder in the crowd.” 

11/8/22 Tr. 40:6–11. Several protestors, including Patschak, walked towards the 

approaching officers in an effort to record their actions. Patschak activated his 

GoPro camera. 11/9/22 Tr. 41:10–11.  
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In his written report, Officer Todd claimed to have seen “kick Officer 

Lucas” another officer and then resist when the police tried to arrest him for the 

kick. R1 at 2 (Gerstein affidavit). That statement “wasn’t true.” 11/8/22 Tr. 

131:6–9. Nevertheless, Officer Todd repeated this false claim, under oath, before 

the grand jury, even after having watched his own body worn camera recording. See 

id. at 117:8–24 (citing Def. Ex. 1). At trial, Officer Todd disavowed his prior 

testimony (that Patschak had kicked Officer Lucas) and instead claimed—for the 

first time—that Patschak had pushed him (Officer Todd) from behind. Id. at 46:15–

47:1, 53:21–54:12. In any event, Officer Todd went to arrest Patschak and the two 

“began to tussle.” Id. at 47:2–10.  

Officer Todd was wearing his body worn camera, which was attached to his 

uniform on his chest. When worn by an officer, the camera is usually locked in 

place, but it can unlock if twisted. See generally 11/9/22 Tr. 188:14–22. Before 

Officer Todd began tussling with Patschak, however, the body worn camera already 

was “at least partially in a twisted position.” Id. at 137:14–138:7 (trial court 
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statement during argument on motion for judgment of acquittal) (A15–A16); Def. 

Ex. 7, Frame 87.  

Patschak will be moving to supplement the record with the videos that were 

admitted as Government Exhibit 2 and Defense Exhibit 7. 

Def. Ex. 7, Frame 87 (Officer Todd with body worn camera partially twisted). 
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B. While Officer Todd executes a “tactical takedown” of Patschak, his 
hand touches Officer Todd’s body worn camera for less than a 
twentieth of a second.   

With his body worn camera already twisted, Officer Todd began “grabbing” 

Patschak to “do a tactical takedown.” 11/8/22 Tr. 84:18–85:1. Next, Officer Todd 

moved his closed fist toward Patschak’s face; Officer Todd’s closed fist made 

Gov. Ex. 1 (Todd BWC) at 16:32:40–16:32:41. 
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contact with Patschak’s face and then extended to the left of Patschak’s face. See 

Gov. Ex. 1 at 16:32:40–16:32:41.  

Officer Todd claims to not “recall” punching Patschak in the face or at least 

to “not recall punching [him] in the face purposely.” See 11/8/22 Tr. at 162:20–21 

(“I don’t recall”); id. at 162:22–23 (“I don’t recall”); id. at 163:6–7 (“I don’t 

recall”); id. at 173:5–8 (“I do not recall punching the Defendant in the face 

purposely.”). When shown the corresponding video clip from his body worn 

camera, Officer Todd insisted, “I don’t throw a punch like that.” Id. at 173:11–14; 

see also id. at 173:23–174:1–2 (repeating that answer two more times). After 

extending his closed fist into Patschak’s face, Officer Todd “pushed [Patschak] 

towards the curb.” Id. at 47:8–15.  At trial, Officer Todd testified that as he was 

pushing Patschak down, Patschak “grabbed my camera, twisted it off.” Id. at 

46:10–15. The government’s video exhibit, however, illustrates that Patschak’s 
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hand touched Officer Todd’s body worn camera for a single video frame—

approximately 1/30th of a second. See Gov. Ex. 2. 

Other admitted footage revealed that this fleeting contact took place during the 

tactical takedown, while Patschak appeared to be trying to stay on his feet.  

Gov. Ex. 2, Frame 524:  
Patschak’s hand is not touching 
Officer Todd’s body worn camera.  

Gov. Ex. 2, Frame 525:  
Patschak’s hand touches Officer 
Todd’s body worn camera for 
1/30th of a second (.03 seconds). 

Gov. Ex. 2, Frame 526:  
Patschak’s hand is no longer 
touching Officer Todd’s body worn 
camera. 
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Def. Ex. 7, Frame 91: 
Officer Todd (red arrow) 
begins tactical takedown of 
Patschak (green arrow). 

Def. Ex. 7, Frame 104:  
As Officer Todd tries to force 
Patschak to the ground, 
Patschak’s hand grasps at Officer 
Todd’s vest, away from his body 
worn camera.  

Def. Ex. 7, Frame 107: 
As Officer Todd pushes 
Patschak closer to the 
ground, Patschak’s hand 
touches Officer Todd’s body 
worn camera for a single 
frame. 
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Even after that fleeting contact, and after Patschak’s hand started to move 

away from Officer Todd, the camera remained attached to Officer Todd. See 

11/8/22 Tr. 158:20–24 (“Q. And isn’t it true that right here his hand is off the 

camera? A. Yes. Q. And where is the camera? A. The camera is attached to me 

still.”) (discussing Gov. Ex. 2). The camera stayed attached even as Patschak’s 

hand moved progressively further away. See id. at 158:25–159:4 (“Q. Okay. I’m 

going to move forward a frame. His hand is where? A. His hand is going away from 

the camera. Q. And the camera is still attached to your vest? A. Yes.”); id. at 159:5–

9 (“Q. Moving forward, forward, and forward, and forward. And now that camera 

is off the frame, correct? A. Yes. Q. And it was on your vest the entire time, right? 

A. From this angle it appeared to be so.”).  

Def. Ex. 7, Frame 108: 
In the next frame, Patschak’s 
hand is no longer touching 
the body worn camera, which 
remains attached. 
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C. After Officer Todd begins walking away from his detached body 
worn camera, Patschak picks up the camera from the ground.  

After Officer Todd finished taking down Patschak to the ground, the body 

worn camera detached from Officer Todd’s body. See id. at 159:16–160:14 (citing 

Gov. Ex. 2). The camera hit the street, then bounced and landed near the curb, 

within arm’s length of Patschak. See, e.g., Gov. Ex. 2 (frames 558–69); see also 

11/9/22 Tr. 63:19–64:2.  

After his camera fell off, Officer Todd immediately began “retrieving back 

towards [his Civil Disturbance Unit] platoon.” 11/8/22 Tr. 74:19–75:1. He did so 

because “the last thing I want is for me to be surrounded by a group of protesters 

Clockwise, from top left: Frames 558, 559, 561, and 563. See Gov. Ex. 2 
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that were there for a specific cause and cause harm to myself” and because “I can’t 

record exactly what’s going on because I no longer have my BWC attached to my 

person.” Id. at 74:2–75:9.  

As Officer Todd was walking away from his body worn camera, and toward 

his platoon, the camera rested in what prosecutors called “neutral territory 

between” Patschak and Officer Todd. 11/10/22 Tr. 7:17–8:3 (A27–A28). While he 

walking back to his platoon, Officer Todd was “looking over [his] shoulder” and he 

watched Patschak pick up the camera and put it into his backpack. 11/8/22 Tr. 

74:19–75:8. After he picked up the camera, Patschak did not run away or otherwise 

try to leave the scene. Id. at 167:10–15. 

Five minutes later, Patschak approached a few other officers, gave them the 

middle finger, picked up a water bottle from the ground, and threw some bottled 

water in the direction of a police sergeant. Id. at 188:5–11, 192:16–22; 11/9/22 Tr. 

69:16–70:1, 70:15–23. Another officer, Omar Forrester, yelled at Patschak, saying 

“Fuck you” or “Fuck you, punk.” 11/8/22 Tr. 200:13–15 (quoting Def. Ex. 5). 

Officer Forrester then charged at Patschak. Id. at 188:16–25. Patschak hit the 

charging Officer Forrester in the head with the plastic water bottle, Officer 

Forrester accosted Patschak, and Patschak hit Forrester a few times with his left 
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hand. See id. at 188:16–25, 189:15–17. Soon, Patschak was surrounded, seized, and 

arrested by “a number of officers.” See, e.g., id. at 203:5–25 (discussing Def. Ex. 6). 

Patschak was hospitalized due to his injuries. See 11/9/22 Tr. 73:12–75:12. 

Another officer found Officer Todd’s camera in Patschak’s backpack. Forty-five 

minutes after it had fallen from his body, Officer Todd again had “possession of the 

camera.” 11/8/22 Tr. 161:2–162:15; 11/9/22 Tr. 10:18–11:16.  

D. The government acknowledges that robbery “may seem inapplicable 
here” and the trial court deems the sufficiency of the robbery 
evidence “a close call” and then an “even closer call.”  

Patschak was charged with misdemeanor assaults on Officers Todd and 

Forrester; although Officer Todd testified at trial, Officer Forrester did not. The 

government also charged Patschak with a felony: robbery of Officer Todd’s body 

worn camera. In his opening statement, the prosecutor warned the jury that the 

Def. Ex. 6, Frame 9. 
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alleged conduct “might not be a robbery that, you know, you think of as grabbing a 

purse, grabbing a wallet and taking it for monetary gain.” 11/8/22 Tr. 16:20–22.  

After the government rested its case, Patschak moved for a judgment of 

acquittal on all counts. 11/9/22 Tr. 18:21–22 (A4). When addressing the robbery 

charge, defense counsel summarized the government’s video exhibits: “Mr. 

Patschak’s hand does not knock this body worn camera off Officer Todd’s vest” 

and “touches his camera for one single frame” of video, which “shoots 30 frames 

per second.” Id. at 19:24–6 (A5). Not only had Patschak touched the camera for 

only “one 30th of a second,” but “when you see that camera fall, it’s after 

[Officer] Todd has pushed Patschak away and the two parties are disengaged.” Id. 

at 20:6–8 (A6). Because robbery is “a specific intent crime,” defense counsel 

added, “[i]t’s not enough if Patschak for the first time sees the camera on the 

ground and then decides to steal it.” Id. at 24:3–5 (A10). Rather, any alleged force 

against Officer Todd “would have to be used with the specific intent to steal 

Officer Todd’s body worn camera.” Id. at 23:13–16 (A29).  

The trial court denied the motion. But when addressing the legal sufficiency 

of the robbery case, the trial court conceded that “it’s a close call as to whether or 

not the motion for judgment for acquittal should be granted.” Id. at 27:5–9 (A13).  
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Patschak testified during the defense case, and defense counsel then renewed 

the motion for judgment of acquittal. Although again denying the motion, the trial 

court observed before Patschak touched Officer Todd’s body worn camera, it was 

already “partially in a twisted position.” Id. at 137:14–21 (discussing Def. Ex. 7) 

(A15). This additional evidence, said the trial court, made the already close call 

“even closer.” Id.  

During closing arguments, the government conceded that robbery “may 

seem inapplicable here”; the robbery charge “seems shocking” and like “an overly 

aggressive or crazy-type charge to bring.” 11/9/22 Tr. 185:25–186:17, 210:19–22. 

To explain itself, the government clarified what it was not alleging: 

• The government was “not asserting that the Defendant went to this protest 
with the intention to steal anything.” Id. at 189:5–7.  

• The government was “not saying that even once he started grappling with 
him he wanted to steal that BWC at that point.” Id. at 189:9–10.  

• The government was “not saying that he fought Officer Todd to steal that 
body worn camera.” Id. at 205:18–23. 

Instead, the government was alleging only that Patschak “was fighting with Officer 

Todd; because of his fight, it caused Officer Todd’s possession—the body worn 

camera—to fall to the ground, and that’s what he took.” Id. 

As an alternative, the government argued that “even if you don’t think the 

Defendant twisted it off and it just somehow came off,” after the camera fell 
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Officer Todd “was unable to pick it up because the Defendant took it from his 

immediate actual possession, which is right within his wingspan.” Id. at 204:11–17. 

E. Questions from jurors suggest that they are “struggling” to 
understand the temporal relationship between force and intent to 
steal.  

The jury was instructed that a robbery conviction would require proof, 

beyond a reasonable doubt, that Patschak (1) took property “from the immediate 

actual possession of Officer Todd, or from Officer Todd’s person,” (2) “used 

force or violence to take the property, by taking the property by sudden or stealthy 

seizure or by snatching,” and (3) “took the property without right to it and 

intending to steal it.” Id. at 179:3–14 (A18). In addition, the jury was instructed on 

the lesser-included offense of theft. See id. at 180:18–181:3 (A19–A20).  

As they started to deliberate, the jurors asked three questions about the 

relationship between intent to steal and the use of force or violence—and, in 

particular, the necessary timing of those acts.  

1. 10:51 a.m.: The jury asks if “the use of force or violence” must “be with the 
intent of taking property.” 

At 10:51 a.m., the jury asked if “the use of force or violence [has] to be with 

the intent of taking property.” R35 at 6 (A57). The government asserted that “as 

long as [the theft] is preceded by violence, that violence need not legally be 

intended to commit the theft itself.” 11/10/22 Tr. 5:11–15 (A25). But the 
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government’s understanding, warned the trial court, was “contrary to the plain 

language of the statute.” Id. at 5:20–24 (A25).  

Instead, the trial court answered that “the act constituting the force or 

violence—whether it be the use of actual force or physical violence or the sudden 

or stealthy seizure or snatching—must be accompanied by the specific intent to 

steal in order to satisfy the elements of robbery.” R35 at 5 (A56).  

2. 11:53 a.m.: The jury asks about the necessary timing of the required specific 
intent.  

Thirty-three minutes later, the jury posed its next question: Does “the intent 

for robbery need to occur at the exact time of the act of sudden or stealthy 

seizure?” Id. at 2 (A53). The trial court believed that the “prior response to the 

earlier note addressed this,” and hence was “a little bit concerned about the—not 

concerned, but I just want to make it clear . . .—the question is does the intent for 

robbery need to occur at the exact time of the sudden or stealthy seizure.” 

11/10/22 Tr. 13:6–24 (A33). The jurors are “struggling with—not struggling 

with—but I think what they’re asking about is if he picked up the property and at 

that point didn’t know, just picked it up randomly, didn’t know what he was going 

to do with it and then later on was like, oh, I’m not going to give it back.” Id. at 

16:6–13 (A36).  
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Despite the jury’s potential struggles, the trial court wanted to answer 

“essentially in the same way that we did previously.” Id. at 13:18–19 (A33). The 

government likewise wished to say only that “the act of sudden or stealthy seizure 

must be accompanied with the specific intent to steal.” Id. at 17:14–16 (A37). 

Defense counsel, however, proposed a more specific response: “[S]hould we 

address the situation if the intent to steal was formed after. I think that’s really, 

like, the crux of the question.” Id. at 17:23–18:5 (A37). But the trial court “[did not] 

like the way this is being framed as a temporal thing.” Id. at 18:6–11 (A38). After 

the trial court expressed its view, defense counsel added, “I just think the safest 

instruction is the one that—THE COURT: The ‘accompanied’ language. MR. 

OGILVIE: Yeah, the ‘accompanied’ language.” Id. at 18:12–21 (A38).  

Once again, the trial court instructed the jury that “the act of sudden or 

stealthy seizure must be accompanied with the specific intent to steal.” R35 at 1 

(A52).  

3. 1:04 p.m.: The jury asks what it means for the specific intent to steal to have 
“accompanied” the use of force.  

Less than an hour later, the jury again requested more specific guidance 

about what the trial court meant by “accompanied.” Can “accompaniment be a 

span of time other than the immediate taking of the property,” the jury asked, or 

“can the entire events be accompaniment?” Id. at 4 (A55). Defense counsel 
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proposed to answer directly, because “we just have to direct them, you know, 

towards the right way.” 11/10/22 Tr. 21:10–16 (A41). And the “answer to [the 

question] is no, right?” Id.  

The trial court rejected that approach. Instead, the trial court proposed to 

answer that “if at the time of the act of force or violence the person did not have 

the intent to steal, then that does not satisfy the intent requirement.” Id. at 21:17–

19 (A41). The government asked, in turn, to rephrase that answer, “perhaps not in 

the negative but just in the positive, like, just simply tell them at the time of the 

taking the person must have the intent to steal.” Id. at 21:20–24 (A41). That was 

“not bad,” said the trial court, which rephrased the answer to say that “at the time 

of the taking, the person must have had the intent to steal.” Id. at 21:25–22:5 (A41–

A42). 

After initially agreeing to that revision (id. at 22:6; A42), defense counsel 

noted that “we were going to include something about the force and violence.” Id. 

at 22:20–22 (A42). In particular, defense counsel wanted the jury to understand 

that if Patschak “had the intent to steal the property at the time he picked it up but 

it was outside of Officer Todd’s immediate, actual possession, that wouldn’t be a 

robbery, that would be a theft.” Id. at 22:22–23:1 (A42–A43).  
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But the trial court believed that this was “a separate issue from what they’re 

asking about,” and offered a more limited solution: “[I]nstead of the taking we 

could use the force or violence language.” Id. at 23:2–7 (A43). The trial court, then, 

proposed answering, “To constitute a robbery, the person must have had the intent 

to steal at the time he used force or violence to take the property, whether it be the 

use of actual force or physical violence . . . or sudden stealthy seizure or 

snatching.” Id. at 23:10–15 (A43).

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