BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

.....

No. 23-CF-251

Clerk of the Court Received 06/21/2024 12:57 PM Filed 06/21/2024 12:57 PM

MICHAEL PATSCHAK,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO ALEC LEVY JOSHUA HALL

- * MARK HOBEL D.C. Bar #1024162 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Mark.Hobel@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2020 CF2 9368

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

Todd"; (2) "he took the property from the immediate actual possession of Officer Todd or from Officer Todd's person; (3) he did so against the will of Officer Todd"; (4) "he used force or violence to take the property by taking the property by sudden or stealthy seizure or by snatching"; (5) "he carried the property away"; (6) "he took the property without right to it and intending to steal it; and (7) "the property had some value" (11/9/22) Tr. 179). The court further instructed the jury that "[p]ropery is in the immediate actual possession of Officer Todd if it is located on Officer Todd's person or close enough that one could reasonably expect Officer Todd to exercise physical control over it. Taking the property by sudden or stealthy seizure or by snatching can satisfy the requirement of force or violence if the Defendant used enough force to accomplish the actual physical taking form the person of Officer Todd even though Officer Todd did not know the property was taken, and even though the property was unattached to his person." (*Id.* 179-80.) The court also instructed the jury on the lesser-included offense of theft (id. 180-81).

2. Jury Notes and Responses

The jury began its deliberations on November 10, 2022, at approximately 9:30 a.m. (11/9/22 Tr. 233-34). At 10:51 a.m., the jury sent

its first note, asking in connection with the robbery count: "Does the use of force or violence have to be with the intent of taking property?" (11/10/22 Tr. 3). The government argued that the answer was "no," because "the specific intent is with respect to the stealing and taking away, and that as long as it is preceded by violence, that violence need not legally be intended to commit the theft itself" (id. 4-5). Patschak disagreed, arguing that "what makes a robbery different from theft, [the defendant has this specific intent that's paired with the violence and force" (id. 6). The trial court sided with Patschak: "I have to say that's my understanding too [T]he intent must accompany the act which constitutes the criminal act." (Id.) The court proposed the following response to the first note: "The answer to the question is yes. The act constituting the force or violence, whether it be the use of actual force or physical violence or the sudden or stealthy seizure or snatching, must be accompanied by the specific intent to steal in order to satisfy the elements of robbery." (Id. 11.) Patschak's counsel stated: "No objection. I think that's right." (Id. 12.) The court sent the response in writing to the jury at 11:20 a.m. (id.; R. 35).

At 11:53 a.m., the jury sent its second note, asking "Does the intent for robbery need to occur at the exact time of act of sudden and stealthy seizure?" (11/10/22 Tr. 13). The trial court observed that the "prior response to the earlier note addressed this," and proposed "that we respond essentially in the same way that we did previously," but stated that it was "happy to hear the parties' positions" (id.). After the government suggested different "phraseology" than "accompanied by," the court proposed "undertaken with" (id. 14 ("[W]hat if I said the act of sudden or stealthy seizure must be undertaken with the specific intent to steal?")). The court asked, "Does that make it clear for them, must be undertaken?" (Id.). Patschak objected to altering the first response, however (id. 15). Patschak's counsel stated that he was "just not confident enough that the distinction between 'accompanied' and 'undertaken' provides any additional clarity to the issue," and clarified that his "position here is . . . that the Court [should] give the original response to the jury"—"[t]hat it must be accompanied" (id.).

The trial court again adopted Patschak's position, explaining "that was my initial instinct . . . to give them that instruction again, so I'm fine with that" (11/10/22 Tr. 17). The court also stated, "If we get another note

asking about this, . . . we might respond differently" (id.). Patschak's counsel asked, "just thinking out loud here," whether the court should explicitly "address the situation if the intent to steal was formed after" (id. 17-18). The court replied that it did not "like the way this is being framed as a temporal thing," rather than drawing the specific connection between the act and the intent (id.). Patschak's counsel then reiterated that "the safest instruction is . . . the 'accompanied' language" (id.). Without objection, the court responded in writing to the jury at 12:15 p.m.: "To constitute a robbery, the act of sudden or stealthy seizure must be accompanied with the specific intent to steal" (id. 18-19; R. 35).

The jury sent its third note at 1:04 p.m., asking: "Can accompaniment be a span of time other than the immediate taking of the property, or can the entire events be accompaniment?" (11/10/22 Tr. 20). Patschak's counsel stated, "The answer to that is no, right? . . . [W]e just have to direct them to the right way." (*Id.* 21.) Patschak's counsel added that "part of the issue is that they're just focusing on . . . the temporal aspect of it" (*id.*). Taking Patschak's suggestion about "the temporal aspect," the trial court proposed responding, "[A]t the time of the taking, the person must have had the intent to steal," because "that pretty

directly answers the question" (id. 22). Patschak's counsel replied, "[t]hat's good," but also asked "to include something about the force or violence" (id.). The court then modified the proposed response: "To constitute a robbery, the person must have had the intent to steal at the time he used force or violence to take the property—whether it be the use of actual force or physical violence or sudden or stealthy seizure or snatching" (id. 23; R. 35). Patschak's counsel stated, "No objection" (11/10/22 Tr. 23). Thus, at 2:16 p.m., the court sent its written response to the jury's third note (id.; R. 35).

The jury reached its verdicts at 3:38 p.m., convicting Patschak on all counts (11/10/22 Tr. 24-25).

B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

Where a defendant preserves a claim of error regarding jury note responses, this Court reviews "the trial court's decision on what, if any response to give to a jury's question for abuse of discretion," although "the accuracy or the instruction itself is a legal question [this Court] review[s] de novo." *Bruce*, 305 A.3d at 400. But "[w]hen a party fails to raise a timely objection to an instruction or to the court's response to a jury

question, the claimed error is not preserved, and [this Court] review[s] that claim of error under the plain error standard." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). Under that standard,

an appellant must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected his substantial rights. To show that an error affected a substantial right, the appellant must show a reasonable probability that, but for the error claimed, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Even if all three of these conditions are met, this [C]ourt will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.

Id. at 401 n.9 (cleaned up). "This is[,] and should be, a formidable burden." *Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1173 (internal quotation marks omitted).

In responding to a jury's question, the trial court "must give the jury an accurate and fair statement of the law." *Lucas*, 240 A.3d at 343. "Moreover, the trial court should clear away the jury's specific difficulties with concrete accuracy," because the "jury's confusion as to an issue requires that the trial court convey an appropriate and effective response." *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

"Where a jury asks no follow-up questions, the Supreme Court 'has presumed that the jury fully understood the judge's answer and appropriately applied the jury instructions." *Lucas*, 240 A.3d at 348 (quoting *Waddington v. Sarausad*, 555 U.S. 179, 196 (2009)). "This is

because, 'to presume otherwise would require reversal every time a jury inquires about a matter of constitutional significance, regardless of the judge's answer." *Id.* (quoting *Weeks v. Angelone*, 528 U.S. 225, 234 (2000)).

C. Discussion

1. Patschak's Claim Is Unpreserved.

Patschak failed to preserve his claim by timely objecting to the trial court's responses to the jury notes. *Bruce*, 305 A.3d at 400. In fact, Patschak affirmatively agreed to each of the responses.

Starting with the response to the first jury note, the trial court sided with Patschak and instructed the jury—contrary to the government's position—that the "act constituting the force or violence" must be "accompanied by the specific intent to steal" (11/10/22 Tr. 11). Patschak stated, "No objection. I think that's right." (*Id.* 12). Patschak does not dispute that he failed to preserve any objection to the first response (Br. 37).

As to the second note, Patschak explicitly took the "position here... that the [trial court] give the original response to the jury": that the act of sudden or stealthy seizure "must be accompanied" by the intent

to steal (11/10/22 Tr. 15). The court assented, noting that it was "fine with that" (*id.* 17), and it instructed the jury in accord with Patschak's "position" (*id.* 18-19 ("the act of sudden or stealthy seizure must be accompanied with the specific intent to steal")). *Cf. Bruce*, 305 A.3d at 400-01 ("Courts are especially reluctant to reverse for plain error when it is invited.").

Patschak's brief omits any mention of his own advocacy for the "accompanied" instruction in response to the second note (Br. 17-18, 38). He instead claims that he preserved an objection because, after the trial court agreed to give the "accompanied" instruction that Patschak himself requested, Patschak's counsel mused about whether "[we] should [also] address the situation if the intent to steal was formed after" (Br. 37). But Patschak's counsel clearly stated that he was "just thinking out loud here," and was "not even sure" about the suggestion (11/10/22 Tr. 18). When the court expressed initial skepticism, Patschak's counsel immediately clarified that he "just [thought] the safest instruction is . . . the 'accompanied' language" (id.).

Bruce, 305 A.3d 381, presented a similar scenario, in that defense counsel made offhand statements about a possible response to a jury

note, but ultimately "changed course and proposed" the response given to the jury. *Id.* at 401. This Court reviewed for plain error. *Id.* 401-02. Here, Patschak proposed the response to the second note. His counsel made clear that any additional suggestions were "just thinking out loud" and that he stood by his original request as "the safest instruction." Patschak failed to preserve any objection to the second response.

Patschak also failed to preserve any objection to the trial court's response to the third jury note. Here, upon receiving the note, Patschak's counsel remarked that "part of the issue" was that the jury was focusing on "the temporal aspect" (11/10/22 Tr. 21). Taking its cue from Patschak, the trial court proposed that it respond using the "at the time" language—to which Patschak's counsel replied: "That's good." (id. 22). Patschak's only additional suggestion—which the court adopted—was to include language about "the force or violence" (id.). After the court read the proposed response, Patschak's counsel clearly stated, "No objection" (id. 23).

Patschak claims that he "proposed to answer concretely and directly" (Br. 38) because his counsel initially asked: "[S]o the [question] is can the entire event be the accompaniment? That answer to that is no,

right?" (11/10/22 Tr. 21). But before the court interjected, Patschak's counsel added, "[W]e just have to direct them . . . towards the right way," and suggested that "part of the issues is that they're just focusing on maybe just the temporal aspect of it" (id.). It was only then that the court proposed—in response to Patschak's concern about "directing" the jury "towards" the "temporal aspect"—that the jury be instructed that "at the time of the taking, the person must have had the intent to steal" (id. 22). Patschak immediately stated that this was "good" (id.). Because the court's proposal directly responded to Patschak's concerns and resolved them to his satisfaction at the time, Patschak cannot claim that he preserved an objection. The plain error standard thus applies to Patschak's unpreserved claim. Super. Ct. Crim. R. 52(b).

2. Patschak Cannot Satisfy the Plain-Error Standard.

Although Patchak's brief clearly recognizes that preservation is an issue (Br. 37-40), he has not even attempted to argue that he could satisfy the "formidable burden" of plain error review. *Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1173. Nor could he meet that burden. He cannot show that the trial court plainly erred, or erred at all. He also fails to meet his burden to showing

prejudice or that any error affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.

First, Patschak fails to establish any error, much less obvious error. Patschak does not argue that the court's responses misstated the law. He argues only that the court did not respond to the jury notes with "concrete accuracy," *Lucas*, 240 A.3d at 343, because it ultimately told the jury that, to commit robbery, a person must have the intent to steal "at the time" he used force or violence to take property—rather than at the "exact" or "immediate" time (Br. 41). The difference is pedantic. The court was not required to use the jury's "chosen words," as Patschak suggests (*id.*). The court simply needed to provide "an accurate and fair statement of the law" that constituted "an appropriate and effective response" to the jury's "specific difficulties." *Lucas*, 240 A.3d at 343.

Here, by the third note, the jury's specific difficulties related to "the temporal aspect," as Patschak's counsel put it (11/10/22 Tr. 21).6 The court's response—the specific intent to steal must be present "at the time"

⁶ Patschak does not claim that the responses to the first and second notes misstated the law, and any failure to adequately clear away potential confusion would surely be harmless because the jury sent the third note and provided a final opportunity to clarify the law.

of the act constituting force or violence—concretely, accurately, and fairly addressed those difficulties. And the response was surely and appropriate and effective one, because the jury reached its robbery verdict soon after receiving the response to its third note, and without asking for additional clarification. Therefore, it must be "presumed that the jury fully understood the judge's answer and appropriately applied the jury instructions." *Lucas*, 240 A.3d at 348.⁷

Second, Patschak fails to meet his burden on the third and fourth of plain-error review. The jury had asked whether prongs "accompaniment" could be "a span of time" or "the entire events," (11/10/22 Tr. 20). Patschak has not shown a reasonable probability of a different outcome had the jury been instructed that Patschak must have had the intent to steal at the "exact" or "immediate" time he used force or violence to take the property, rather than "at the time." The addition of these adjectives would not have changed the meaning, and it is hard to conceive of a rational juror who could find that Patschak had the intent to steal "at the time" he snatched the camera from the ground, but not at

-

⁷ Even if Patschak had preserved his claim, the trial court did not abuse its discretion for the reasons discussed in the text.

the "exact" or "immediate" time. Moreover, Patschak has not carried his burden to show that the trial court's handling of the jury notes was so deficient as to "seriously affect[] the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Bruce*, 305 A.3d at 401 n.9. To the contrary, the record reflects that the court carefully and deliberately responded to the jury's questions, consulting Patschak and the government at every turn, and incorporated their suggestions into its answers. And even Patschak does not dispute that the court correctly instructed the jury on the law governing its deliberations. Patschak thus does not meet his burden to justify reversal under the plain-error standard.8

_

⁸ Patschak argues that "[t]he judgment should be reversed" (Br. 43). Any error in responding to jury notes concerning only the robbery count would surely be harmless as to the two APO convictions, however.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully submits that the judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed.